5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM HONORABLE MARVIN I. LAWSON,
THE HONORABLE J. MICHAEL BAXLEY
DARLINGTON COUNTY
TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 2013-CP-16-431

RECEIVED

OCT 06 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000589

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Probate Court lack subject matter jurisdiction to hear this partition action since the Estate of S. W. Byrd was closed in 1948?
2. Did the Probate Court commit error by applying § 15-61-25(a) rather than § 62-3-911?
3. Did the Probate Court commit error in finding that the appellants failed to comply with the Probate Court orders?
4. Did the Probate Court commit error by holding partition of the property by allotment was not practical and ordering the property sold by auction?
5. Did the Probate Court commit error in treating the percentages of ownership as personal property rather than realty in accordance with § 62-3-101 and South Carolina common law?
6. Did the Probate Court commit error by ruling respondent is entitled to reasonable attorney fees and the cost of this action?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Darlington County Probate Court ordering the public sale of property in a partition action brought by the respondent. The Order of the Probate Court was affirmed by the Court of Common Pleas. The appellants are co-tenants and tenants in common of the S. W. Byrd Farm, a tract of land located in Darlington County and owned by the Byrd family for almost 200 years. Appellants contend the Probate Court's Order directing the public sale of the property is in error and should be reversed.

The respondent E. Butler McDonald owns 2.04% of the S. W. Byrd Farm consisting of approximately 240 acres of open fields and pine forest. The

respondent commenced this partition action by summons and petition filed on April 18, 2012 in the Probate Court of Darlington County. The appellants did not want the property sold and expressed interest in purchasing the respondent's interest early in the proceedings. By letter to counsel for the respondent, the appellants suggested the parties obtain an appraisal and a timber cruise and tried to reach an agreement by which appellants would buy respondent's interest. The respondent refused.

The Probate Court scheduled a hearing on December 5, 2012. The appellants sought a continuance of the hearing in order that an appraisal and a timber cruise could be obtained, and again, the respondent objected. Prior to the scheduled hearing, the appellants moved to dismiss the suit contending the Probate Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. At the December 5, 2012 hearing, the Probate Court denied appellants' Motion to Dismiss. The appellants again moved to continue the case and asked the court to appoint an appraiser in hopes that the appellants could buy respondent's 2.04% interest. The court denied their request to continue.

The respondent testified the property could not be partitioned in kind or by allotment and asked the court to order a public sale. The respondent also took the position the appellants had failed to submit a written offer to purchase pursuant to § 15-61-25(a) and, therefore, the appellants had waived their right to purchase the respondent's interest. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Court took all issues under advisement.

Following the hearing of December 5, 2012, the appellants obtained an appraisal and a timber cruise at their own expense.

On February 20, 2013, the appellants submitted an offer to buy respondent's interest in the S. W. Byrd Farm. When the respondent did not reply, the appellants offered to deed respondent his 2.04% interest in the property.

On April 16, 2013, the appellants filed a "Notice and Motion for Court Appraiser". On April 25, 2013, respondent objected to the motion and again took the position "the respondents failed to timely make a written offer to the petition of their wish to purchase the property."

On May 21, 2013, the Probate Court issued its order directing the S. W. Byrd Farm sold by public auction. The Order provided, "Based on the testimony at the hearing, no interested party had noticed Mrs. Ervin their wish to purchase the same."

The appellants appealed to the Court of Common Pleas which affirmed the Order of the Probate Court holding there is sufficient evidence to support the Probate Court's decision that the appellants failed to timely comply with the dictates of S. C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25(A) and that the property should be sold. The appellants served its Notice of Appeal on March 13, 2014.

ARGUMENT

1. Did the Probate Court lack subject matter jurisdiction to hear this partition action since the Estate of S. W. Byrd was closed in 1948?

The Circuit Court only heard this case on direct appeal from the Probate Court. The statute cited by the Circuit Court, South Carolina Code § 15-61-25, provides for Circuit Court jurisdiction to partition real estate. South Carolina Code § 15-61-50 provides that the Court of Common Pleas has jurisdiction in all cases in which more than one person holds an interest in property, to have the property divided or sold. Only if the property is part of an active estate does the Probate Court have concurrent jurisdiction. South Carolina Code § 62-3-911 provides that partition can only be had in the Probate Court in the following situation:

“...[T]he personal representative or one or more of the interested heirs or devisees may petition the court prior to the closing of the estate, to make partition.”

Appellants Byrd et. al. filed, prior to the hearing in the Probate Court, a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction, citing Rule 12(b)(1) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and § 62-3-911 of the South Carolina Code:

“This motion is based on the above statutes and the fact that the estate of S.W. Byrd is closed.”

The S. W. Byrd Estate was closed in 1948. Counsel for the Appellants read a portion of the order closing the estate into the record. Page 60 of the Record provides as follows:

“MR. JOHNSON: Your Honor, we think that we can find an order in – (STOPS SPEAKING TO THE COURT AND STARTS CONFERRING WITH HIS CLIENT, INAUDIBLE, AND THEN BEGINS SPEAKING TO THE COURT AGAIN) – in S. W. Byrd’s Estate closing the file. (STARTS LOOKING AT THE DOCUMENT)

JUDGE: That it right there?

MR. JOHNSON: (STARTS APPROACHING THE BENCH)

JUDGE: Hold in abeyance one (1) minute and let’s see what we can find.

MR. JOHNSON: It’s signed by the Court by the Honorable Judge Fountain (PHONETIC SPELLING). It says, “That the Petitioner is from henceforth and forever discharged and dismissed from all liability as Administrator of the aforesaid . . .” (THEN HANDS THE DOCUMENT TO THE JUDGE).”

In spite of the fact the S. W. Byrd Estate was closed, and the probate court denied the motion to dismiss.

Section 62-3-911 states that partition can only be made “prior to the closing of the estate.” In *Estate of Livingston v. Livingston*, 404 S.C. 137, 744 S.E. 2d 203 (S.C. App. 2013), the Court of Appeals had the converse issue in front of it. In that case, a partition action was brought in an open estate. The case was referred to the Master in Equity, who then applied the Circuit Court statute, South Carolina Code § 15-61-25. The appellant contended that because the action originated in the Probate Court, the Probate Court statute continued to apply to the partition action even though the case was then in effect in Circuit Court. The appellant suggested that the order of priority for abatement would be affected by failure to apply the proper statute. The Court of Appeals held that the Master should have

applied the Probate Code's partition statute. The court noted that in Waddell v. Kahdy, 309 S.C. 1, 4, 419 S.E. 2d 783, 785 (1992), the Supreme Court found the Probate Code governs an action when it is removed to the Circuit Court, and remains primarily within the scope of the Probate Code. The Court added that because a partition statute is provided for in the Probate Code, the Master should have relied upon the Probate Code statute in addressing partition. The case was reversed and remanded for the Master to apply the Probate Code statute. Similarly in this case, since the Probate Court never had jurisdiction, the case should be dismissed.

In an unpublished case, Evans v. Anderson, 2005-UP-295 (April 25, 2005), the Court of Appeals held in a footnote in a partition matter:

“We recognize Middlebrooks’ claim that the master lacked subject matter jurisdiction can be raised for the first time on appeal. See, e.g., Simmons v. Bellamy, 349 S.C. 473, 476, 562 S.E. 2d 687 (Ct. App. 2002).”

Although it is acknowledged that Appellants did not raise this issue on appeal from the Probate Court to the Circuit Court, they did initially plead it before the Probate Court, and under the above authority they would not even have been required to do that. This issue of not requiring parties to preserve subject matter jurisdiction was specifically discussed:

“However, the Probate Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction to determine the question of paternity. § 20-7-420(7) provides the Family Court has exclusive jurisdiction to determine paternity. South Carolina Code Ann. § 20-7-420(7)(1976 & Supp. 2001). While it is true that this issue was not raised in either the Probate Court or the Circuit Court and has not been relied upon by the appellant, ‘lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any

time, can be raised for the first time on appeal, and can be raised *sua sponte* by the Court.’ *Lake v. Reeder Constr. Co.*, 330 S.C. 242, 248, 498 S.E. 2d 650, 653 (Ct. App. 1998). Since the Probate Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to decide paternity, the finding that McCray is the father of Mikayla is a nullity because the Probate Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to determine paternity, and the order under appeal must vacated. We do not address the issue of whether it was error to reopen the estate.”

2. *Did the Probate Court commit error by applying § 15-61-25(A) rather than § 62-3-911?*

The Circuit Court affirmed the Probate Court based upon South Carolina Code § 15-61-25(A).

However, this would have been the wrong statute even if the Probate Court indeed did have jurisdiction. It is argued above that the Probate Court never did have jurisdiction, but if the Probate Court did have jurisdiction, it applied the wrong statute. If the Probate Court had had jurisdiction, the proper statute would have been South Carolina Code § 62-3-911.

In this context, it should be noted that during the time period at issue, South Carolina Code § 62-3-911 differs markedly from what it states now. In an Amendment effective January 2014, the code section tracks the language of South Carolina Code § 15-61-25. However at that time, effective June 2010, § 62-3-911 did not have the 10 day period of the South Carolina Code § 15-61-25. It merely stated:

“When two or more heirs or devisees are entitled to distribution of undivided interests in any personal or real property of the estate, the personal representative or one or more of the heirs or devisees may petition the Court prior to the closing of the estate, to make partition. After service of summons of petition and after notice to the

interested heirs of devisees, the Court shall partition the property in kind if it can be fairly and equitably partitioned in kind. If not subject to fair and equitable partition in kind, the Court shall direct the personal representative to sell the property and distribute the proceeds.”

Thus, there was no 10 day period to violate. Even though the Circuit Court partition statute should have been applicable, that is irrelevant because if the Probate Court indeed had had jurisdiction to hear the case, then the Probate Court was required to use the Probate Court partition statute as noted above in Estate of Livingston v. Livingston, supra.

3. Did the Probate Court commit error in finding that the Appellants failed to comply with the Probate Order.

Even if the Probate Court had had jurisdiction, appellants Byrd, et. al. complied with the Probate Court orders.

The Circuit Court found that there is sufficient evidence to support the Probate Court’s alleged decision that the appellants failed to timely comply with the dictates of South Carolina Code §15-61-25(A). (Last page of Order of Judge Baxley, dated February 17, 2014). There was no further discussion. The Circuit Court did note that the appellant Byrd had claimed that the Probate Court erred by denying the appellants Byrd et. al.’s right to purchase the respondent McDonald’s 2% minority interest in the property as provided by South Carolina Code §15-61-25.

However, the initial Probate Court Order of November 5, 2012 did not cite South Carolina Code § 15-61-25(A). It simply stated that if anyone was interested

in purchasing the property, he or she should notify Gina Ervin as attorney for McDonald by November 21, 2012. When the Probate Court issued its Order on the merits on May 13, 2013, there was no finding that any time period in § 15-61-25 had not been complied with.

The Probate Court Order of May 13, 2013 noted that on November 5, 2012, the Probate Court had issued an earlier Order allowing the respondent McDonald to notify all interested parties of their right of first refusal to purchase the property. The Probate Court then stated:

“6. Pursuant to the terms of that Order, anyone interested in purchasing the property subject to the action was to notify Mrs. Ervin [the respondent McDonald’s attorney] in writing on or before November 21, 2012.

7. Based on the testimony at the hearing, no interested party had notified Mrs. Ervin of their wish to purchase the same.”

This finding was clearly erroneous, because the Order of November 5, 2012 by the Probate Court simply stated:

“It is therefore, Ordered, adjudged, and decreed that the petitioner [McDonald] shall send a Notice of Right of First Refusal to all interested parties in this matter who shall have until November 21, 2012 to notify Gina Phillips Ervin as attorney for the petitioner if they are interested in purchasing the property that is the subject of this action.”

It is clear that not only did appellants Byrd, et. al. comply with this provision, they complied with it multiple times prior to November 21, 2012. All of the following are part of the transcript and are pursuant to appellant Byrd et. al.’s Second Request to Admit:

1. September 21, 2012 letter from Brown Johnson, attorney for appellants to Ervin, attorney for respondent McDonald. (R. 177) This letter states:

“In the meantime, I wanted to make one more attempt to settle this case. Butler McDonald owns 2.04% of the S.W. Byrd Farm. Do you think he would consider my client buying his interest? If we could agree on a value of the estate, I may be able to find enough buyers to buy his interest. Please give this some thought and let me hear from you at your first convenience.”

2. Exhibit 2 of Request for Admission. On September 27, 2012, Gina Ervin, McDonald’s attorney, stated that the respondent McDonald would in fact be willing to sell his 2% interest if a settlement could be made on an adjacent property. (R. 178)

3. Exhibit 3 of Request for Admission. On November 1, 2012, Brown Johnson, attorney for appellants, sent a letter to Ervin, attorney for respondent McDonald (R. 179), stating:

“I would appreciate Mr. McDonald submitting a settlement demand for his interest in the property pursuant to §15-61-25. I look forward to hearing from you.”

4. Exhibit 4 of Request for Admission. On November 8, 2012, respondent McDonald’s attorney, Ervin, wrote a letter to Brown Johnson, attorney for appellants, stating that “Mr. McDonald says that he is willing to transfer all of his interest in the S.W. Byrd Farm [the property at issue in the case at bar] in return for all respondents transferring their interest in [an adjacent] property to him.” (R.182)

5. Exhibit 6 of Request for Admission. On November 14, 2012, Brown Johnson, attorney for appellants, wrote a letter to Gina Ervin, attorney for respondent McDonald, stating that he reiterated his interest in purchasing the property and would like to discuss an appraisal of the property. It should be emphasized that this was after the November 5th initial Order of the Probate Court, and before the November 21, 2012 deadline. (R. 183)

There can be no question that the appellants Byrd et. al. had made known their interest in purchasing the property to respondent McDonald even before the first Probate Court Order. The finding to the contrary by the Court is without substantial evidence and is clearly erroneous.

It is also important to note that correspondence before the first Order of the Probate Judge on November 5, 2012 is relevant. This November 5, 2012 Order by the Probate Judge was not a ruling on the merits. Instead, it was simply an *ex parte* Order issued as a matter of course. The Court was not ruling that there had been no relevant prior expressions of interest, and the Court did not know whether or not such offers had been made. Thus, prior correspondence is relevant to compliance with this Order. The record discloses that in fact such expression of interest had been made since September 2012, as set out in Request for Admission #1.

Based on the finding of the lack of any expression of interest in purchasing the property, the Probate Court found in its second Order that the property should be partitioned and sold at public auction.

Contrary to the Order of the Circuit Court, the Probate Court never found that the appellant Byrd failed to timely comply with the time dictates of South Carolina Code §15-61-25(A). The initial Probate Court Order of November 5, 2012 did not cite this provision and simply stated that if anyone was interested in purchasing the property, he or she should notify Gina Ervin as attorney for McDonald by November 21, 2012. When the Probate Court issued its Order on the merits on May 13, 2012, it simply held that no interested party had notified Mrs. Ervin of his or her wish to purchase this property by November 21, 2012. There was no finding that any time period in §15-61-25 had not been complied with.

Nevertheless, the Circuit Court, while stating that the time limits of the statute were not complied with, did not discuss it any further. It is clear that the Probate Judge had delegated the notification requirement of this section to the attorney for the respondent, Gina Ervin. Rightly or wrongly, this is the law of the case. There was no finding by the Circuit Court that appellant Byrd could not satisfy the time requirement by notifying attorney Ervin. Indeed, the Probate Court specifically found that Ervin was never notified, when the facts clearly demonstrate that she was.

Section 15-61-25 then states what happens if the parties cannot reach an agreement as to the price. This is clearly what happened here, as the correspondence between the attorneys clearly demonstrates that the respondent McDonald would not agree to allow appellant Byrd to purchase McDonald's 2% interest in the property as issue at any price because in effect he was holding hostage the adjacent property. By contrast, appellant Byrd, et. al. owned a 25% interest in the collateral property which McDonald wanted to settle. Page 133, line 17 of the Record.

Section 15-61-25(B) states that when the parties cannot reach an agreement, real estate appraisers shall be appointed. Indeed, this was discussed in the letters from Brown Johnson, attorney for appellants Byrd et. al. to the attorney for the respondent.

The remedy of public sale only applies after the matters in §15-61-25(A) and (B) have not been complied with:

“(E) In the event that the non-petitioning joint tenants or tenants in common fail to pay the purchase price as provided in subsection (D) of this section, the Court shall proceed according to its traditional practices in partition sales.”

Thus, it is clear that the right of first refusal is intended to be resolved fully and thoroughly prior to ordering a public sale.

4. Did the Probate Court commit error by holding partition of the property by allotment was not practical and ordering the property sold by auction?

The Order from Probate Court provides, “Partition of the property described in paragraph 4 by physical partition is impractical and therefore should be sold at auction.” Such a ruling is unsupported by the evidence and against our court’s favored partition by allotment or partition in kind. Partition in kind involves dividing the property among all the owners. Partition by allotment is to “allot” a portion of the property to one of the owners, with the remainder held jointly by the other owners. *Zimmerman v. Marsh*, 365 S.C. 383, 618 S.E.2d 898 (S.C. 2005).

Our courts have long favored partition by allotment which is statutorily preferred along with partition in kind over a juridical sale of the property. *Cox v. Frierson*, 316 S.C. 469, 451 SE2d 392 (1994). The party seeking a partition by sale carries a burden of proof to show that partition by allotment is not practicable or expedient. *Zimmerman v. Marsh, Supra*.

The respondent failed to carry the necessary burden of proof. The only evidence presented on this issue was the respondent’s own testimony which

amounted to no more than an opinion. McDonald's testimony as found in the Record, beginning on p. 67, l. 22, includes the following:

“Q. Okay. And you have also requested the Court partition the property. Is that correct?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. In your opinion, is the property capable of being divided in kinds, so that ever person with an interest gets a little piece?

A. I – I don't think so.

Q. Okay.

A. I could be wrong, but I don't think so.

Q. And would you request that the – you're requesting the court sell it?

A. I requested.

Q. So, you wish it to be done by public or private sale or do you care?

A. Public sale ...

Q. Public Sale?

A. ...in front of the Courthouse.”

The testimony presented by the respondent on this question is no more than a statement in self-interest, and nothing in the record supports its reliability or the respondent's opinion. There is a complete lack of evidence which would justify our Court abandoning its preference for partition by allotment or partition in kind. Therefore, the Court's finding and ruling that the property should be sold by public auction is an error and should be reversed.

5. *Did the Probate Court commit error in treating the percentages of ownership as personal property rather than realty in accordance with § 62-3-101 and South Carolina common law?*

The Probate Court determined the percentages of ownership of all parties who had an interest in the S. W. Byrd Farm. In his testimony, the respondent McDonald made reference to a family chart listing the owners and their percentages of ownership. Although the chart was discussed by the parties, the chart was not introduced as an exhibit. The respondent simply testified that he was in agreement with the chart although he admitted that one of the appellants, Wilkins Byrd, knew more about the heirs than he did. In its Order, the Probate Court adopted the chart, but the percentages of ownership were treated as personal property and passed under Georgia law rather than South Carolina law. The appellants disagreed and presented evidence to the contrary.

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