IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM HONORABLE MARVIN I. LAWSON,
THE HONORABLE J. MICHAEL BAXLEY
DARLINGTON COUNTY
TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 2013-CP-16-431

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000589

RECEIVED

OCT 23 2014

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

1. The Probate Court had subject matter jurisdiction to hear this action.

The appellants' filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction in the Darlington County Probate Court in November, 2012. (R. p. 40) The motion was heard on December 5, 2012. After arguments were made, the Court denied the motion. (R. p. 57, line 9- p.61 Line 20) The appellants' failed to appeal from the Probate Court's decision.

Appellants are again arguing that the Probate Court lacked jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to SCRPC, Rule 12(b)(1) and S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-911, because the Estate of S.W. Byrd was previously closed in 1948. However, the Respondent's original petition had two (2) causes of action. The first requested that the Court determine the heirs of S. W. Byrd. (R. p. 15) The second asked the Court to Partition the property. (R. p. 17) Both of these causes of action may be brought in the Probate Court. The subject matter jurisdiction of the Probate Court is set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-302. Subsection (a) (1) provides that the Probate Court has jurisdiction over "estates of decedents, including...determination of heirs and successors of decedents...." In *Neely v. Thomason*, 365 S.C. 345, 618 S.E. 2d 884(2005) the Supreme Court found that the Probate Court had subject matter jurisdiction over all subject matter relating to the determination of heirs. In addition, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-911 gives the Probate Court the authority to partition real property.

The filing of the petition to determine the heirs of S. W. Byrd caused an active and open matter to be pending in the Probate Court. Therefore, pursuant to the S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-911 the Court would have the authority to partition the property for purpose of distribution once the heirs had been determined.

2. The issue of whether the Probate Court committed error by applying § 15-61-25(A) is not properly before the Court.

In this issue, the appellants' argue for the first time that the Probate Court committed error by applying S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25(A) rather than § 62-3-911. The appellants failed to plead this issue in their answer and counterclaim. In addition, this argument was never made to the Probate Court or to the Circuit Court in the appeal. In *Dawkins v. Mozie et.al*, 399 S.C. 290, 731 S.E. 2d 342(Ct. App. 2012) the Court held that an issue raised for the first time in a post-trial brief is not properly preserved.

It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellant review. *Wilder Corporation f/k/a Wilder Mobile Homes, Inc. v. Wilke, et. al*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E. 2d 731 (1998). In *Herron*, the Supreme Court found that:

Issue preservation rules are designated to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellant review.” *Queens Grant II Horizontal Property Regime vs. Greenwood Development Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E. 2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilkie*, 330 S.C.71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. *Id.* Imposing such requirements on the appellant “is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, arguments.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422,526 S.E. 2d 716,724 (2000). *Herron et. Al vs. Century BMW a/k/a Sonic Automotive, et al*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E 2d 640, 642 (2011) See also *Turpin et. al. v. Lowther, et.al*. 404 S.C. 581, 745 S.E. 2d 397 (Ct. App. 2013)

A review of the Transcript of the Hearing before the Circuit Court shows that not only was the issue never raised but that the Appellants arguments were replete with references to with

§15-61-25. (R. p. 147, lines 104; p. 148, lines 3-5; p. 149, lines 6-8; p. 152, lines 11-14) Since this argument was never made before either the Probate Court or the Circuit Court this issue has not been preserved for appealed and should be dismissed.

3. The Probate Court did not commit an error in finding the Appellant failed to comply with the Probate Court Order.

The Appellants argue that the Probate Court committed an error in finding the Appellants failed to comply with “the Probate Court Order.” It is unclear what order they are addressing or which Court made the error.

On November 5, 2012 the Probate Court issued an order stating the Respondent’s requested manner of providing the Notice of the Right of First Refusal was fair and equitable to all parties. (R. p. 2). It went on to provide that all interested parties had until November 21, 2012 to provide notice to the Respondent’s attorney if they were interested in purchasing the property. (R. p. 3) The November 5th Order, as well as the approved letter were served upon the appellants’ attorney on November 8, 2012. (R. p. 5)

A review of transcript of testimony of the hearing in the Probate Court shows that no definite offer to purchase was made by any appellant prior to the November 21st deadline. (R. p. 6). Although there were requests to settle the matter, no firm offer was timely made any appellant. In fact, the appellants’ attorney states prior to the hearing “we don’t want to purchase the property outright” (R. p. 51 lines 23-24). In addition, the transcript shows that Appellants’ Attorney stated they must first obtain an appraisal prior to being able to make an offer. (R. p. 52, lines 21 – 25). The Probate Court found that no interested party notified the Respondent of their wish to purchase to property. (R. p. 6)

The Appellants in their argument attempt to use as evidence the Appellants' Second Request to Admit. However, none of these requests were ever admitted nor were they in evidence before the Probate Court. In fact they were dated May 8, 2013 after the Order was filed. (R. p. 48). In addition, the Exhibits attached to the Requests to Admit dealt with offers to settle the matter, which were not admissible pursuant to SCRE, Rule 408.

The Appellants next argue that the remedy of public sale applies only after §15-61-25(A) and (B) have not been complied with. However, a review of the statute shows that only once an offer has been made pursuant to Subsection (A) does Subsection (B) come into play. Subsection (B) applies only if an offer has been made and the parties are unable to agree on a price. In the hearing before the Probate Court, Appellants' attorney informed the Court that Appellants must obtain an appraisal prior to being able to make an offer. R. p. 52, lines 21 – 25).

The order of the Circuit Court affirmed the judgment of the Probate Court ordering the property be sold at auction. (R. p. 9-11). In doing so the Circuit Court found that the partition is a matter in equity. *Campbell v. Jordan*, 382 S.C. 445, 675 S.E. 2d 801(S.C. App. 2009). In appeals of equitable actions the Circuit Court may find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence. However, the appellant court is not "required to disregard the findings of the trial judge who saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to judge their credibility." *Marichrias, LLC. Vs. Derrick*, 384 S.C. 345, 351, 687 S.E. 2d 301, 305 (Ct. App. 2009). The Court further held that the factual findings and legal conclusions of the court were both in accordance with the evidence of the case, South Carolina real property, estate law and in the interest of justice. (R. p. 10). It is well established that in cases of equity when findings of fact have been found by a trial judge and concurred in by a circuit judge, those findings will not be disturbed by a higher court unless it appears that such findings are without

evidence or support or against the clear preponderance of the evidence. *Watson et. al, v. Little*, 229 S.C. 486, 93 S.E. 2d 645 (1956), See also *Peoples National Bank of Greenville v. Manos Brothers et. al*, 226 S.C. 257, 84 S.E. 2d 857 (1954); *Archambault et. al. v. Sprouse*, 218 S.C. 500, 63 S.E. 2d 459 (1951)

Appellants go on to argue that based on S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-25 they were entitled to have an appraiser appointed. However, a review of that statute shows that only if an offer has been made pursuant to § 15-61-25(A) **and** the parties are unable to agree on a purchase price is the value of the interest to be sold to be determined by one or more competent real estate appraisers. In this case there was no offer timely made, therefore § 15-61-25(B) never came into play. In their own argument the appellants state that the remedy of public sale only applies after matters in § 15-61-25(A) and (B) have not been complied with. By statements previously made on the record it is obvious that appellants did not comply with the statute and therefore, the remedy of public sale is appropriate.

4. The issue of whether the Probate Court committed error by ordering that partition by allotment was not practical and that the property be sold at auction is not properly before the Court.

Appellants argue that the Probate Court erred in in failing to allow partition by allotment rather than ordering the property be sold at auction. However, the issue of allotment was not plead in the Appellants' answer and counterclaim, nor was any motion to amend made at trial. (R. p. 132 line 15 – P. 133, line 4; p. 136, lines 1-2). This argument was not preserved because the Probate Court did not rule on it and it was not raised by the appellants in a motion to alter or amend. *Brown v. Brown et al.*, 402 S.C.

202, 740 S.E. 2d 507 (Ct. App. 2013). See also, *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E. 2d 772 (2004).

Appellants further argue that there was insufficient evidence offered by the Respondent to show that the property was not divisible in kind. However the only testimony before the Court was that the property was incapable of division in kind due to the number of heirs involved. There was no testimony introduced by the Appellants to show that the property was in fact capable of division in kind. They instead chose to merely attempt to discredit the Respondent. The Appellants cannot sit back at trial without offering evidence and then complain of the insufficiency of evidence to support the court's findings. *Honea v. Honea*, 292 S.C. 456, 357 S.E. 2d 191(Ct. App. 1987) Based on the evidence presented, the court was correct in concluding that property could not be divided in kind.

Both the Probate Court and the Circuit Court found that the property was incapable of partition in kind and that it was fair and reasonable to partition the property by public sale. It is well established that in an equity case findings of fact made by the trial court and then concurred in by a circuit judge will not be disturbed by an appellant court unless it appears that such findings were without evidentiary support or against the clear preponderance of the evidence. *People's National Bank of Greenville, supra*.

5. The Court did not treat the percentages of ownership as personal property rather than realty.

The first cause of action in the original petition was for a determination of the heirs of S.W. Byrd. In its order the court found that all of the children of S.W. Byrd were

deceased leaving various children, spouses, and other heirs. In most cases no estate had been opened and more than ten years had passed since the death of the original heirs of S.W. Byrd. As a result these estates could not now be probated pursuant to S. C. Ann. § 62-3-108.

Based on the pleadings and the evidence presented at the time of the hearing the court determined the interests of the various heirs of S.W. Byrd. (R. p 7-8). The order makes no mention of a partnership or personal property interest. One of the appellants' witnesses spent much time on the issue of partnership and personal property. However, it was merely the testimony of one of the appellants that he disagreed with a chart of the heirs of S.W. Byrd and their respective interests because **he felt** one heir's interest in the property was determined based on the idea that it was personal property. (R. p. 112, lines 12 – 16) That same witness later stated that he was satisfied with the heirs that were listed in the S.W. Byrd estate and believed that the identities of all heirs were correct. (R. p. 122, line 25 – p. 123, line 3 See also, p.124, lines 18-22.)

The determination of heirs is a matter at law. When a probate court proceeding is an action at law, the circuit court and the appellant court may not disturb the probate court's finding of facts unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence to support them. *Matter of Howard*, 315 S. C. 356, 434 S.E. 2d 254 (1993)

6. The probate court did not commit error by finding the respondent was entitled to reasonable attorney fees and costs of this action.

The determination of whether or not to award attorney's fees in partition action rests within the sound discretion of the trial court. The court has the ability to award fees in all partition proceedings and, as may be equitable, assess such fees against any or all of

the parties in interest. *Laughon v. O'Baritis*, 360 S.C. 520, 602 S.E. 2d 108 (Ct. App. 2004). The fixing and assessing of attorneys' fees and costs is a matter within the court's discretion, the exercise of which will not be disturbed absent of showing of abuse. *Inman et. al v. Wells*, 283 S.C. 218, 321 S.E. 2d 183 (Ct. App. 1984) See also, *Briggs et. al v. Jackson et. al* 275 S.C. 523, 273 S.E. 2d 532 (Ct. App 1981)

The appellants argue the court should not have awarded attorney fees in favor of the Respondent because of his "inequitable conduct". However, a review of the transcript of the Probate Court hearing shows that no evidence was presented by the Appellants establishing that the Respondent acted in an inequitable manner in this case. None of the testimony presented by the appellants dealt with any actions taken by the Respondent in this action. In fact, the testimony involved instances in which both the Respondent and one of the Appellants were required to act together as they were Co-Personal Representatives in another estate. (R. p. 101, line 13 – p. 107, line 10.)

The Probate Court saw and heard the witnesses and is therefore in a much better position to judge their credibility in this matter. Even taking everything testified to by the appellants as true would not bar attorney fees in this matter. There was no evidence introduced of improper behavior by the Respondent in this case. The Respondent was merely exercising his statutory right to partition property as a co-tenant.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent contends that for the reasons above stated this Court should

affirm the judgment of the Circuit Court.